SAPPER WILLIAM NEAL
4436 – 3rd Tunnelling Company
William Joseph Neal was born in the second quarter of 1877 the son of John and Rose Ann (nee O’Dowd) Neal at Thames, New Zealand.  The family came to Melbourne, Victoria where he served an apprenticeship as a compositor for seven years.  He went to the goldfields of Western Australia.
At the recruiting depot at the Senior Cadets Depot, Kalgoorlie on 12 March, 1916 the thirty-seven-year-old miner applied to enlist for active service abroad and passed the medical examination.  Attestation forms describe him as 165cms (5ft 5ins) tall, weighing 60kgs (132lbs) with a chest expansion of 79-89cms (31½-35ins) and a ruddy complexion with his grey eyes testing to good vision and brown hair.  Distinctive mark was a scar on the front of his left thigh.  Religion was Roman Catholic.  
Next-of-kin nominated was his mother Mrs Rose Anne Neal of 364 King Street, West Melbourne, Vic.  
A farewell to the departing recruits was reported in the:
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He signed and took the Oath of Enlistment at Blackboy Hill camp, near Perth on March 14, 1916.  Basic training commenced with the 54th Depot Battalion until 21 March when allotted to the No. 6 Tunnelling Company.
Recruiting for the No. 6 Tunnelling Company had commenced on March 7, 1916 by Captain Lawson and his four officers.  Instruction classes were formed of officers and N.C.O.’s as there was insufficient time to attend the Engineer’s School in Sydney.  Recruits were forthcoming in abundant numbers and the aim was to have good physical types of skilled W.A. Miners.  

At Blackboy Hill camp the new company paraded daily with sister companies until March 27 when the Company moved camp to Belmont camp.  Neal arrived at the camp where four sections were created and training continued through April and May. 
The remainder of May was occupied in the usual training: musketry, trench work and night work while equipment and clothing issue was also in progress.  
Here a difficulty was met in that the general size of the men was considerably above the average and some little trouble was experienced in getting all accurately fitted.

Early in May, 1916 the No. 4 Tunnelling Company consisting of six officers and 152 other ranks together with the 1st Reinforcements of fifteen other ranks making up two sections, embarked from Brisbane, Qld aboard HMAT A69 Warilda for Sydney, NSW.  
At Rosebery Park, Sydney, NSW they joined their Headquarters and two sections (8 officers & 153 O.Rs.) plus 1st Reinforcements consisting of one officer and seventeen other ranks for final training.   

The 7713-ton transport Warilda departed Sydney, NSW on May 22, 1916 and collected in Melbourne, Victoria the No. 5 Company recruited from Victoria, South Aust. & Tasmania made up of Headquarters and 2 Sections (8 officers & 173 men) (3 M.D.). One Section from Tasmania (3 officers & 76 O.Rs); also 1st Reinforcements for No. 5 Company (17 men from Vic. & 8 men Tas.)  The ship departed on May 25, 1916 for Adelaide, S.A. to collect one Section of 3 officers & 76 O.Rs with 1st Reinforcements of 8 O.Rs. 

The public were kept informed on the movements of the No. 6 Tunnelling Company as published in the:
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The No. 6 Company paraded through the city of Perth where the fine physique of the men, who marched with arms bare to the elbow excited universal admiration.
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The transport arrived in port at Fremantle, W.A. on June 1, 1916.  The whole company consisting of 14 officers and 325 O.Rs along with 1st Reinforcements of 1 officer and 32 O.Rs entrained at Belmont at 2 p.m., every man physically fit being present and boarded Warilda which left the harbour the same evening.
Durban, South Africa was reached on June 16, 1916 and Cape Town on June 21, 1916 while St Vincent completed the African ports of call on July 7, 1916.  Discipline was fairly good except at intermediate ports where Away without Leave caused concern.  The fifty-eight-day voyage experienced remarkable pleasant weather terminating at Plymouth, England on July 18, 1916.  Four, Five and Six Companies comprising of 1064 officers and other ranks were detrained to Amesbury and Tidworth to begin training for the front at Perham Downs.

The Reinforcements proceeded to France on 28 August, 1916 arriving at the 2nd Aust Divisional Base Depot two days later.  On 25 September marched out for the 3rd Tunnelling Company and taken on strength on September, 30.
Was admitted to the 72nd Field Ambulance with diarrhoea on 23 November, 1916 and sent to recuperate at the 1st Corps Rest Station on 30 November and re-joined his unit on 7 December, 1916.
Two Blue Chevrons were issued to wear on his uniform on 1 June, 1917 for serving twelve months abroad.

In an audit of the company, he was counted as still serving with his unit on 26 April, 1918.

Leave was granted and taken proceeding on 12 October and re-joined his unit October 27, 1918.
He was with his unit when Peace was declared and the Tunnelling Companies remained on the front as part of the Army of Occupation assisting with rehabilitation of their areas by clearing roads and bridges of booby traps and delayed action mines left by the enemy.

On 28 December, 1918 he went sick to the 39th Stationary Hospital suffering debility then evacuated to Aust General Base Depot with debility and rheumatism on 2 January, 1919.  Two days later entered the 56th General Hospital remaining until invalided from Etaples to England on the hospital ship Brighton and admitted to the Paddington Military Hospital, Harrant Road suffering myalgia (muscular pain) the following day.
Was transferred on 29 January, 1919 to the 3rd Aust Auxiliary Hospital in Dartford and on 3 February was discharged to furlough and report to the No. 1 Command Depot on 17 February.
Base Records advised his mother on 20 February, 1919 that he had been admitted to hospital.

The Orderly Room granted him an extension of leave to 24 February, 1919 due to the Depot being full.  A further extension was granted by the Orderly Room at Administration Headquarters to 3 March for the same reason then the report date was extended to 10 March.  He marched in from headquarters to the No. 2 Command Depot at Weymouth as ordered.
Sapper Neal embarked for Australia as an invalid on 19 April, 1919 on board H.T. Marathon.  Base Records advised his mother on 7 May that he was returning home.   He entered the ship’s hospital on 18 May suffering from scabies (a skin irritation caused by Itch Mite whose eggs are laid under the skin’s outer layer) and discharged to duty on May 27.  
He chose not to return to the Military District in which he enlisted returning to his home state of Victoria.

The transport docked in Melbourne (3rd M.D.) on 7 June, 1919.  Brief news of their arrival was published in the:
Military Discharge was issued in Melbourne (3rd M.D.) on 8 August, 1919 as medically unfit.
His Will was returned to the 5th Military District on 10 October, 1919.

Sapper 4496 William Neal, 3rd Tunnelling Company was issued to wear the British War Medal (45558) and the Victory Medal (44781) for serving his country.
He collected his War Medal from Victoria Barracks on 1 July, 1921 and the Victory Medal on 6 July, 1922.

His address is listed in 1926 at 209 Flemington Road, North Melbourne with the occupation of miner.  A year later he was at 38 Chapman Street, North Melbourne where he remained.
The Melbourne Branch of the Repatriation Commission requested from Base Records a copy of his service records which were forwarded on 30 June, 1933.
William Joseph Neal passed away on 2 July, 1935 aged 57 years at Heidelberg.  Interment took place in Roman Catholic portion O of Fawkner Cemetery (now Fawkner Memorial Gardens) in grave no. 933.  The grave is unmarked.
Other members interred the same grave are:


John Henry Neal
65 years
8 July, 1941

Daniel Herbert Neal
56 years
4 March, 1942


Rosanna Neal

73 years
24 April, 1944
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Kalgoorlie Miner Monday March 13, 1916:


FAREWELL TO RECRUITS – TOWNSPEOPLE’S GATHERING


Yesterday when 26 men from Boulder and Kalgoorlie left by the express for Blackboy camp, several hundred people gathered at the Kalgoorlie Town Hall in recognition of the event.  It was the second time this had been done in Kalgoorlie.


The Kalgoorlie Brass Band, whose members in uniform had marched with the members of the C.D.C. down the main street to the hall were in the front seats; on the platform were two or three members of the miners’ corps of which a large number arrived on the fields in the morning for a brief leave.


The chairman’s speech was an appeal for those who had to stay at home to do their duty.  He had the greatest pleasure in wishing the men God-speed and a safe return.  (Applause).


Dean Kiely drew attention to the way in which the Old Country by its receptions to the Australian Prime Minister and High Commissioner had shown its growing recognition. (Applause)


Several contributed to the entertainment of the audience during the afternoon.


The band and the members of the C.D.E. in honour of three or more of their comrades who were leaving, marched with the crowd to the station to see the men leave.  The gathering was of the customary size though fewer than usual came from Boulder.  He greater portion of the recruits were from Kalgoorlie.


Names of the latest to be accepted at the Kalgoorlie office are: J.J. Brown, D. Owens, D. Cahir, W. Neal, W.M. Good, V.N. Lugan (Leonora), C.H. Abbott, T.H. Carss, J.G. Preddy, R.F. Tucker, L.H. Thompson.												Article abridged





The West Australian Wednesday May 31, 1916:


THE TUNNELLING COMPANY - PARADE THROUGH CITY STREETS


  Although the numerical strength of the troops which paraded the city streets yesterday morning was considerably less than that of previous parades, and despite the fact that citizens have become accustomed to the sight of khaki-clad warriors, the men of the No.6 Tunnelling Company and the Claremont N.C.O. school met with a hearty reception as they swung along to the inspiriting music of the Blackboy Hill band.  The line of route was freely bedecked with flags, whilst the large crowds, if somewhat undemonstrated denoted none the less by their presence their keen appreciation of that sense of patriotism which found its highest expression in the long line of soldiers answering to the call of Empire.  In physique and general bearing the men were equal to their comrades who have gone before.  Leaving James-street well on appointed time, the column swung into Beaufort-street and over the bridge in to Barrack-street.  The members of the N.C.O. school, about 113 strong, under Captain Thompson, followed the band, the No.6 Tunnelling Company, with its first reinforcements, totalling nearly 400 men, under Captain Lawson, bringing up the rear.  At the head of the Tunnellers was borne the flag recently presented to the company.


After traversing Barrack and Hay streets the column entered St George’s-terrace via Victoria-avenue.  Opposite Government House his Excellency (Sir Harry Barron), with whom were the State Commandant (Colonel J.H. Bruche), Major P.H. Meeks and Major Wilkinson, A.D.C., took the salute.  Passing along the Terrace the route was via William and Wellington streets to the station.  The men paraded in full fighting equipment.





The No.6 Tunnelling Company - - Photograph taken at the W.A.T.C. Course, Belmont, where the men have been in training





The West Australian June 1, 1916:


THE WESTERN MAIL


The war pictures appearing in this week’s issue of the Western Mail:  


In addition, the “Mail” contains a fine photograph of the No 6 Tunnelling Company, as well as an illustration of their march through the streets of the city on Tuesday last, and a photograph of the officers who have been appointed to command the men. 





Tuesday’s parade of troops.  The No.6 Tunnelling Company and the members of the N.C.O. School,


Claremont, marching through the city.





Argus (Melbourne) Monday June 9, 1919:


SOLDIERS ARRIVE – FIVE TRANSPORTS DISEMBARK


Shortly after two o’clock on Saturday afternoon 220 troops for Victoria disembarked from the Marathon at the Railway Pier, Port Melbourne.								Article abridged
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